0/A 2-11-8}

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 63,805

MEGAN MOORE, etc., et al.,

Petitioners,

vs.

CHESTER MORRIS, M.D., et al.,

Respondents.

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

SAMS, GERSTEIN, WARD,
NEWMAN & BECKHAM, P. A.
700 Concord Building
66 West Flagler Street
Miami, Florida 33130
and
DANIELS AND HICKS
1414 duPont Building
169 East Flagler Street
Miami, Florida 33131
(305) 374-8171

DEC 5 1983

erk supreme court

SID

Attorneys for Petitioners

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioners, Megan Moore, Henry Moore and Susan Moore seek to quash the Third District's 2-1 decision which affirmed the trial court's order granting a summary final judgment on the ground that this medical malpractice action is barred by the statute of limitations.

The Third District's majority opinion held that the Moores were "...on notice from the time of the birth of the alleged negligence or injury to the infant..."

As will be demonstrated below, the Third District misconstrued the legal significance of the facts of record and failed to consider them with the other facts and permissible inferences in a light most favorable to the Moores as it was required to do in reviewing a summary judgment.

A. General Facts Relating to Susan's Pregnancy.

On November 21, 1972, Susan Moore saw James Gallagher, M.D., who confirmed that she was pregnant with her first child. (R.4585). The prenatal care of Susan was administered by Dr. Gallagher, Dr. Morris and Dr. Schatz, medical associates in an obstetrical group. (R.1145; 4584).

On July 8, 1973, having gone into labor at home at noon (R.4173-4), Susan Moore was admitted to North Shore Hospital. (R.4665). She was under the care of Dr. Schatz until the morning of July 9, 1973. (R.1145; 4656). Beginning the morning of July 9, 1973, and continuing through her delivery, Susan Moore was under the care of Dr. Morris. (R.1145).

The specific acts of negligence by these health care providers which allegedly caused permanent and irreversible brain damage to Megan Moore at birth are detailed in the complaint. (R.4-7). They will not be summarized here because they are not relevant to the issues before this Court.

B. Specific Evidence Relevant to Statute of Limitations.

1. Testimony of Susan Moore.

Shortly after her admission to North Shore Hospital, Susan was given medication (Scopolamine - an amnesic R.4659) by a nurse and she did not remember anything until she woke up in the recovery room. (R.4177, 4183). She was not aware of any problems with her delivery or labor prior to that time. (R.4178). She did not know that a Cesarean Section had been performed until she returned to her room. (R.4178). After waking up in the recovery room she overheard a conversation between a nurse and someone else about whether her husband was back from the other hospital and inquiring whether the baby had lived. (R.4179).

The first time Susan learned that there had been some fetal distress during the delivery was when her husband visited her the evening after the delivery. (R.4185, 4188). Her husband was upset and told her that Megan was in another hospital as a result of a problem and that she was alive. (R.4060).

Susan remembered that later she was told that "when the child goes into distress, they swallow the feces and the cord gets wrapped around their neck..." (R.4190). Susan did not recall whether she was told that the cord was actually wrapped around Megan's neck. (R.4190). She understood that the Cesarean section was performed as a result of the fetal distress Megan was experiencing during birth. (R.4196).

Susan was also told by physicians that "[Megan] was doing well, beautifully at Jackson. Children are miraculous. Things of this sort. And the baby was doing fine." (R.4201). Her understanding of her child's condition immediately after delivery was that "She was alive and well at Jackson and doing very well." (R.4202). When Megan was discharged from Jackson it was Susan's understanding that Megan was fine. (R.4043, 4109). Susan was not aware of any damage to Megan when she was discharged. (R.4145). As a result of the complication, Susan felt that she had been mismanaged. (R.4133-4135, 4137). Essentially, Susan was unhappy about having a Cesarean section and having her baby taken to Jackson. (R.4140). However, there was no problem because it had resolved itself. (R.4139-4140).

Susan did not believe that her child was abnormal at birth. (R.4204-4205). It was her understanding that "when she was born, she had some fluid in her lungs or something like that and this is what I understood, that Jackson removed or somebody in the ambulance removed this fluid from her lungs." (R.4205, 4041). Upon Megan's discharge from Jackson, Susan was told that if Megan suffered twitching or trance-like staring in the future, this would be symbolic of a problem. (R.4043, 4071). She was also told that if there was a problem these symptoms would occur almost immediately. (R.4073). However, it is uncontroverted that Megan never had any of these symptoms. (R.4044).

After Megan's discharge from Jackson she was seen by Dr. Brown for an EEG "...just as a follow-up..." (R.4216, 4045, 4078). Subsequent to the follow-up in 1975, wherein the EEG was found to be normal, Dr. Brown told Susan that Megan "...was progressing very nicely and appeared to be normal, that future EEGs would be a kind of waste of time." (R.4216, 4046) In fact, Megan appeared to develop normally. (R.4217). She was very alert and very responsive. (R.4216). Susan was never told of any developmental delay during the routine follow-up visits. (R.4046, 4065). Dr. Brown pointed out that Megan's head size was small for a five or six month old child but he was not concerned about it. (R.4049). At no time did Dr. Brown express any concern about

Megan's development until March of 1977. (R.4217, 4219). At this time, Megan had a seizure which lasted 50 minutes and Dr. Brown put her on medication. (R.4218).

Prior to 1977, at one year of age, Megan had something that appeared to be a seizure, which Susan was advised resulted from a fever. (R. 4219-4220, 4079).

One year later Megan suffered another seizure which Susan was told was associated with another fever. (R.4221). Megan did not experience any more seizures or anything unusual until 1977. (R.4221, 4222). The only other thing Susan told Dr. Brown that she noticed was that two or three times Megan shivered for a second. (R.4130). Dr. Brown told her that this was perfectly normal. (R.4130).

Susan also testified that at no time did any doctor tell her that Megan suffered any brain damage or brain dysfunction. (R.4215, 4223).

2. Testimony of Henry Moore.

The day after Susan was admitted to the hospital to deliver her baby, Dr. Morris called Henry and asked him for permission to deliver the baby by Cesarean section because there was an emergency. (R.4882). Henry gave his permission and immediately left for the hospital. (R.4884). He went to the nursery, noticed that the baby's general complexion was blue and observed that Dr. Rosenthal, a pediatrician, was administering

oxygen. (R.4885, 4890). Dr. Rosenthal later told him that he didn't think the baby would make it and Dr. Morris told Henry that he did the best he could. (R.4875). He also told Henry that he should "...do what you have to do." (R.4896). Henry thought the statement was odd but he didn't understand what Dr. Morris meant. (R.4897). He had no feelings about whether or not any physician had done anything improper. (R.4954).

Henry was then told that the baby was going to be transferred to Jackson. (R.4898). At this time, he did not see Dr. Rosenthal administering oxygen and he did not recall anyone holding the baby. (R.4899). He remembers seeing the personnel from Jackson arrive. (R.4901). All of this was traumatic to Henry. He prayed, and then proceeded to Jackson. (R.4903).

At Henry's deposition, the following colloquy occurred:

"Q. (By Mr. Womack): What is the first thing that occurred when you got over to Jackson?

A. I immediately went up to ask where the newborn clinic was, and I arrived up there.

I was rejoiced that -- I was either told or -- that the baby had made a turn-around, and I was very much relieved." (R.4906).

Henry spoke to Dr. Link, the physician who accompanied Megan to Jackson, and he stated that he inserted a tube into her chest cavity en route and this "...allowed her lung or chest cavity to expand or correct itself." (R.4906). Dr. Link said that the baby "...showed immediate and dramatic changes when this was done" and

that "...the baby was coming along nicely." (R.4907). Henry was told that Megan had swallowed something at birth. (R.4967). They used the term meconium aspiration. (R.4968). Henry saw Megan that night in the nursery and "[h]er color was beautiful..." "[n]ormal, pink; and she appeared restful." (R.4909).

Henry went back to North Shore Hospital and told Susan that "...the baby was getting along nicely and had been transferred to Jackson Memorial, where [they] had a unit that specialized in intensive care newborns, and the baby had beautiful brown eyes." (R.4912). Henry felt that the complication which occurred at the time of delivery resolved itself (R.4943) and he was not aware that any future problems might arise as a result of Megan's condition at the time of delivery. (R.4946). He believed that the follow-up at the Mailman Clinic was part of the routine established for babies who had been in intensive care at Jackson. (R.4947).

Henry did not have any other conversations with the physicians at North Shore who were involved in Megan's birth. (R.4913). No physician at Jackson ever advised him that Megan had sustained any permanent injury. (R.4916). Nothing occurred after Megan was discharged to indicate that she was anything other than a normal child. (R.4917). Henry and Susan were told by the Mailman Clinic that Megan was "...progressing within the average percentile." (R.4974). Henry's first knowledge that something was wrong with Megan was "when they had her third year

check-up at Mailman, we were told that her progress was below average." (R.4917; 4958). At that point he began investigating. (R.4955).

Henry also believed that the two seizures Megan had prior to 1977 were caused by a fever. (R.4926).

3. Medical Records and Testimony of Dr. Stuart Brown.

As we are entitled to do under the rules governing summary judgments, the following is a synopsis of the portions of Dr. Brown's testimony and records in a light most favorable to the Moores.

The most significant testimony by Dr. Brown occurred during the following colloquy:

"Q. Up until the time this child was age 3, did you ever make a diagnosis that the child had been brain damaged at the time of delivery?

Mr. Parenti: Objection to the form.

The Witness: No." (R.3602).

Dr. Brown first saw Megan on July 18, 1973, at Jackson nine days after her birth, and he concluded as follows:

"Neurological examination reveals a healthy normal appearing child in no distress." (R.1490).

Dr. Brown did not speak to Megan's parents during her hospitalization. (R.1495). Dr. Brown next saw the child in his office on
December 3, 1973. (R.1495). Dr. Brown examined Megan physically
and neurologically and he "...did not find any abnormalities at
that time." (R.1500). Dr. Brown's records of that examination
reveal the following history given by Susan:

"Subsequent growth and development reveal that the child held her head up at 7 weeks, and her head and chest up thereafter. She began to smile at 2 months, and to recognize at 3 months, and in the past few weeks has been rolling over both ways, particularly from her stomach to her back. She is said to laugh and coo and to be a good baby. Her disposition is said to be fine, but she does cry and does not just remain placid. She eats well without any vomiting, and sleeps satisfactorily.

She has not been subject to any unusual illnesses." (R.1560).

After observing that the growth of her head size was in the 25th percentile Dr. Brown concluded in his report to Megan's pediatricians that:

"This little child is functioning perfectly well for her chronological age." (R.1560).

Her development was so normal that Dr. Brown decided not to see her again until she was one year of age. (R.1561).

Dr. Brown did not recall whether or not he discussed Megan's head size with her mother. (R.1502).

The next neurological examination was performed by Dr. Brown on June 24, 1974. (R.1506). Dr. Brown's narrative report of the examination to Megan's pediatricians reveals the following history given by Susan:

"According to her mother, she's been doing more, and is crawling and creeping, and beginning to pull up to a stand. When placed in a standing position she is said to walk holding on. She's making sounds, but has not put any syllables together for words. She's playful and alert, and teases and understands what's going on." (R.1562).

While Dr. Brown stated that he expressed some concern to Susan about Megan's head size (which Susan denied R. 4217, 4219), he stated that he could not "...find anything hard on examining her." (R.1562). In any event, he testified during deposition that disparity in head/body size does not necessarily imply that a child is going to have a subsequent difficulty either intellectually or educationally. (R.1545). Dr. Brown did not want to examine Megan for another 6 months. (R.1562).

Megan was again examined by Dr. Brown on February 25, 1975, and he concluded in his report to her pediatricians as follows:

"The neurological examination of the child was normal. I obtained a waking and sleep electro-encephalogram and this was also normal with no evidence of seizure discharge." (R.1563).

There is no mention in this report about Megan's head size. (R.1563). Dr. Brown does not recall whether Susan was aware that Megan had certain general indications that were bothersome to him. (R.1519). Moreover, at this February 1975 examination, Susan was told by Dr. Brown that there was no necessity to bring Megan back. (R.4175-6). In fact, for the first time the office notes and reports of Dr. Brown contain no reference to the necessity for further follow-up of Megan. (R.1563; 1573). Evidently Dr. Brown thought that Megan was progressing very rapidly and appeared to be normal and future EEGs would be a waste of time. (R.4216).

As to the two seizures Megan had during two episodes of fever, Dr. Brown testified that:

"A small percentage of children have seizures with fever from ages 18 months to five years of age. Seizures so seen with fever have very little significance insofar as long-term outcome of the child..., the fact that this child's first two seizures occurred with fever therefore didn't necessarily mean that she was in any way abnormal." (R.1530).

Dr. Brown next saw Megan in May of 1977, almost one year after her third year testing and examination at Mailman Center when brain damage was first diagnosed. (R.1130-31; 4924; 4950; 4957). Susan testified that after Megan had had a 50 minute seizure in early 1977, she returned with Megan to Dr. Brown. (R.4217-8). At this examination, unlike prior EEGs, a definitely

abnormal EEG suggested "heightened seizure tendency" (R.1548-9) and Megan was first placed on medication by Dr. Brown. (R.1549; 1564; 4217). Dr. Brown's office notes and report of May 1977, provide the very first reference in his record to any diagnosis of brain damage, brain abnormality or seizures. (R.1564-1571). The office notes of May 1977, for the first time indicate seizure disorder - secondary to perinatal insult. (R.1571). In Dr. Brown's May 3, 1977 report to Megan's pediatricians, he states:

"I would be inclined to treat this child on a daily basis rather than just treating her when she has fever. I am concerned that because of her perinatal insult that she has a structural abnormality in the left temporal lobe which is going to result in seizure problems for her even without fever." (R.1564).

4. Testimony of the Other Physicians Who Cared for Megan.

Dr. Link, the physician who transported Megan to Jackson, confirmed that upon withdrawing 70 cc's of air from Megan's chest to correct a collapsed lung, she improved markedly. (R.4994). Her complexion became pink. (R.4995). The records also show that large amounts of green material were suctioned from the baby in the van on the way to Jackson. (R.5007).

On October 25, 1973 he saw Megan during a regularly scheduled periodic visit. His report states in part that the discharge diagnosis included a finding of meconium aspiration. (R.5019). In addition, the report provides as follows:

"Mother states that since the baby was discharged, no apparent complication or diseases. Baby smiled, held his head, rolled over, and tolerates most of feedings normally."

* * *

"Neurological exam grossly normal.

Impression: Three-month-old baby, pretty normal. Follow up in three months." (R.5019).

Dr. Link did not recall discussing with the Moores the possibility of neurological problems later on in Megan's life. (R.5025).

Dr. Rosenthal, the pediatrician who attended Megan at birth testified that he never discussed with the Moores what caused the "fetal distress" because, as Dr. Rosenthal explained, "I didn't know the cause." (R.5176).

Dr. Gallagher testified that Cesarean sections may be performed where the pregnancy is "perfectly normal" and the possibility of a "C" section is discussed with the patient. (R.4619).

Significantly, defendant's expert, Dr. Thomas Blake, testified that babies delivered in the same condition as Megan have grown up to be healthy and normal. (R.3512-3).

In the face of these facts, the trial court held that the respondents had conclusively demonstrated that there was no genuine issue of material fact on the issue of statute of limitations.

The Third District ignored most of the above facts and permissible inferences which may be drawn therefrom in its opinion and affirmed the trial court reasoning that:

"Prior to the mother being taken to the hospital for delivery it was a normal pregnancy. After she commenced labor the husband was advised there was an emergency and the baby would be taken by Cesarean Section. After the baby was born the father was on notice that for a period in excess of thirty minutes, while the infant was 'blue', the doctors had attempted to administer oxygen; that they were unsuccessful in their treatment, and received permission to transfer the infant to the emergency facility at Jackson Hospital, that one of the doctors did not expect the baby to live, another doctor told the father that he did the best he could and (apparently the baby would not live) and he, the father, would have to do what he had to do.

While the child was being transported to Jackson in an emergency vehicle her chest was cut open and a tube inserted to assist her in breathing. The parents knew that it was an emergency situation, that there was a problem with the delivery, that the child had swallowed something which restricted breathing, and that the child was starved for oxygen.

Judge Schwartz disagreed with the majority's analysis of the facts and their legal significance and dissented as follows:

"While it is of course true, as the majority states, that Megan's parents were immediately aware that there had been an extremely difficult delivery, I think that this fact is essentially irrelevant. This is because there is surely a genuine issue -- indeed, the is evidence overwhelming to effect -- that neither the Moores nor any of the medical professionals knew or could have known that the baby had sustained any significant injury, and specifically permanent brain damage, until it was scientifically ascertained shortly before suit was filed. I very strongly dissent from the conclusion, inherent in the summary judgment below and its affirmance here, that one is obliged as a matter of law to bring an action before there is a clear indication that damages have even been sustained. Such a holding will require the bringing of protective actions in every case in which a supposed medical misadventure may have occurred, on the off chance that an injury will subsequently manifest itself. had thought that, particularly in this field, the policy of this jurisdiction was to discourage such lawsuits, not encourage them. In my view, the judgment below should be reversed."

Subsequent to this decision, the Moores moved for a rehearing and for a rehearing en banc (App. 4-17). The motion for rehearing was denied in a 2-to-1 decision and the motion for rehearing en banc was denied upon a 4-to-4 tie vote (App.18). Judge Nesbitt, who had the tie breaking vote, recused himself. Thereafter, the Moores filed a motion for rehearing directed to the tie-vote wherein the Third District was requested to certify

its tie-vote decision to this court on the authority of <u>In re</u>
<u>Rule 9.331</u>, 416 So.2d 1127, 1130 (1982). This motion was denied (App.19), and these proceedings followed.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE RECORD FAILS TO CONCLUSIVELY DEMONSTRATE THAT THE MOORES KNEW OR SHOULD HAVE KNOWN OF NEGLIGENCE OR INJURY TO THEIR DAUGHTER PRIOR TO 1977.

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