0/A 2-16-504
	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA SID J. WHITE CASE NO. 63,805 JAN 12 1981 CLEER, SUPREME COURT By
	MEGAN MOORE, etc., et al., Petitioners,
-	vs.
	CHESTER MORRIS, M.D., et al.,
	Respondents.
	BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF RESPONDENTS, CHESTER MORRIS, M.D., WILLIAM J. BREWSTER, M.D., and NORTH SHORE HOSPITAL
	LAW OFFICES OF JOE N. UNGER, P.A. 606 Concord Building 66 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 374-5500
	BY: JOE N. UNGER Counsel for Respondents, Chester Morris, M.D. William J. Brewster, M.D. and North Shore Hospital
	LAW OFFICES OF JOE N. UNGER

		TOPICAL

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

ARGUMENT

THE RECORD CONCLUSIVELY DEMONSTRATES THAT THE TRIAL JUDGE CORRECTLY DETERMINED THE PARENTS MOORE KNEW OR SHOULD HAVE KNOWN OF MEGAN OF ALLEGED NEGLIGENT ACTS OR INJURY TO THEIR CHILD MORE THAN TWO YEARS PRIOR TO THE FILING OF ANY PROCEEDINGS SO THAT THE ACTION WAS BARRED ΒY THE APPLICABLE STATUTE OF LIMITA-TIONS.

Upholding a summary judgment on appeal is, at best, a most difficult task. Almost 20 years ago, this Court discussed this problem in the landmark decision of <u>Holl v. Talcott</u>, 191 So.2d 40, 46 (Fla. 1966):

> "Some may take what we have said here to mean that it will be virtually impossible for the defendant ever to obtain a summary judgment in a malpractice suit. We will not speculate as to how this opinion may be interpreted. We do say that it is not intended to outlaw summary judgment proceedings in such cases. There undoubtedly be cases in which the issues are so clear, the proof of non-negligence so obvious, or the causes of injury to the patient so clearly shown not to be the fault of the practitioner that no trial is required. In such cases summary judgment ought to be granted."

This is such a case. The proof presented to the trial judge was clear that from the moment of Megan's birth (1) her parents were asserting that the defendants were negligent; (2) they knew Megan had been injured at birth; and (3) they knew or should have known during her first year of life that she had suffered a brain disfunction. The applicable two-year statute of limitations expired long before suit was finally brought.

What the Moores did not know, according to the statements

contained in their depositions, was that Megan had suffered <u>permanent</u> brain damage until shortly before suit was filed. As the argument below establishes, this knowledge is not determinative of the issue before the trial judge.

Little benefit is to be gained by reciting time-worn standards for properly granting summary final judgment. One statement of this Court does bear repeating because it directly controls the merits of this litigation. "All doubts regarding the existence of an issue are resolved against the movant, and the evidence presented at the hearing plus favorable inferences <u>reasonably justified</u> thereby are liberally construed in favor of the opponent." <u>Harvey Building, Inc. v. Haley</u>, 175 So.2d 780, 782 (Fla. 1965), emphasis supplied.

In accordance with this standard, petitioners are not entitled to <u>all</u> favorable inferences arising from the evidence. Petitioners are entitled to all favorable inferences reasonably justified by the evidence presented.

For Mr. and Mrs. Moore to maintain throughout their deposition testimony that they thought their infant child was perfectly normal during the first three years of her life violates this standard.

What is crucially significant is that by Mrs. Moore's own statement, she knew that she had been "mismanaged" and that this mismanagement had to do with her child's injuries. This statement was made while she was still in the hospital and alone is a sufficient basis for a determination that the statute of limitations ran two years after Megan's birth on July 9, 1973. Even if this were not the case, both Dr. Brown's testimony and his written records reflect that he diagnosed Megan as having a brain malfunction within reasonable medical probability as early as June 24, 1974. Suit was not brought until April, 1978.

From July 9, 1973, to the present date, the statute of limitations governing medical malpractice actions has changed three times. Section 95.11(6), Florida Statutes (1973), stated that a cause of action in medical malpractice cases was not deemed to have accrued until the plaintiff discovers or through reasonable care should have discovered the injury. Effective January 1, 1975, Section 95.11(4)(a), Florida Statutes (1974 Supp.) provided that the period of limitations would run from the time the cause of action was discovered or should have been discovered with exercise of due diligence. Effective May 20. 1975, Section 95.11(4)(b), Florida Statutes (1975) provided that an action for medical malpractice shall be commenced within two years from the time the incident giving rise to the action occurred all within two years from the time incident discovered should have been discovered with the exercise of due or diligence.

It matters not which of these three statutes applies here. Under any of them, the Moores' claim for the alleged negligent acts which caused injury to their daughter was time barred long ' before suit was actually filed in 1978.

At the outset of their argument, petitioners state the general rule of law set forth in <u>Nardone v. Reynolds</u>, 333 So.2d 25, 32 (Fla. 1976):

"Previously, this Court has held that the statute of limitations in a malpractice suit commences either when the plaintiff has notice of the negligent act giving rise to the cause of action or when the plaintiff has notice of the physical injury which is the consequence of the negligent act."

Thereafter, petitioners discuss ten decisions of various district courts of appeal ". . .which have applied this principle. . . " (Brief of Petitioners', p. 17.)

Not included in petitioners' discussion are the two earlier decisions of this Court which, along with <u>Nardone</u>, establish that the determinations of the trial court and the District Court of Appeal in the instant case are correct.

In Christiani v. City of Sarasota, 65 So.2d 878 (Fla. 1953), a city employee backed a city truck negligently so as to cause injury to the minor plaintiff. This occurred on November 8, 1948. These injuries resulted in blindness of one eye which was not discovered for sixteen months. The question involved was whether the action was barred by a 12-month statute of limitations ". . .from the time of the injury or damages." It was argued by the plaintiff that at the time of the injury its full import, the blindness, did not materialize and was not known for 18 months or more, at which time the action was brought. In determining that the action was barred by the statute of limitations, this Court makes the following statement which is dispositive of the issue in these proceedings:

> "The general rule seems to be that actions for personal injury based on the wrongful or negligent act of another accrue at the time of the injury and that the statute of limitations begins to run at the same time. The running

of the statute is not postponed even though the injury may not materialize or be discovered till later." Christiani v. City of Sarasota, supra at page 879.

Shortly thereafter, this Court decided <u>City of Miami v.</u> <u>Brooks</u>, 70 So.2d 306 (Fla. 1954), a medical malpractice action later cited by this Court in <u>Nardone</u>. At issue was the question of the statute of limitations where a patient had received X-ray treatment in 1944. The injury developed and became known in 1949 while there was <u>nothing</u> to put the plaintiff on notice of any "probable or even possible injury" before that time. <u>City of</u> Miami v. Brooks, supra at page 308.

The following statement in the <u>Brooks</u> case is also dispositive of the issue presently before the Court:

> "The general rule, of course, is that where an injury, although slight, is sustained in consequence of the wrongful act of another, and the law affords a remedy therefor, the statute of limitations attaches at once. It is not material that all the damages resulting from the act shall have been sustained at that time and the running of the statute is not postponed by the fact that the actual or substantial damages do not occur until a later date." City of Miami v. Brooks, supra at page 308.

The decision in the <u>Brooks</u> case also points up another basis for ruling in respondent's favor. The Court notes that there is a distinction between notice of a negligent act and notice of its consequences.

As recently as July, 1983, this Court had occasion to cite the Brooks case for the general proposition that a statute of limitations begins to run where there has been notice of an invasion of legal rights or a person has been put on notice of his right to a cause of action. Kelley v. School Board of Seminole County, 435 So.2d 804 (Fla. 1983).

3

The <u>Brooks</u> decision carefully distinguishes between notice of the negligent act and notice of its consequences, citing <u>Christiani</u> in which there was no notice of the consequences of the act until 18 months later. Nevertheless, there was notice of the act at the time of the incident and, consequently, of the cause of action so that the statute began to run even though notice of consequences did not materialize until later. Thus, the statute of limitations attaches when there has been notice of the invasion of a legal right of the plaintiff <u>or</u> the plaintiff has been put on notice of his right to a cause of action.

In the instant case, all three statutes of limitation. which might apply bar this suit because the Moores discovered or should have discovered that Megan had sustained an injury at birth even though they did not know the extent of injury or whether it was permanent until sometime later. Further, Mrs. Moore was asserting the negligence of her obstetricians before she left the hospital after Megan's birth. All of this occurred more than two years before the the complaint was filed or medical mediation instituted.

Whether the statute ran from the time that the injury was or should have been discovered, or, from the time the cause of action was or should have been discovered or from the time the incident giving rise to the action was or should have been discovered, the statute of limitations expired at least a year and a half before this action was instituted.

Many years after the <u>Brooks</u> and <u>Christiani</u> decisions, the Third District Court of Appeal again reiterated the prevailing rule of law concerning knowledge of injury but not knowledge of its extent as it bears upon running of the statute of limitations:

> "It is the established law of this state that statute of limitations in a medical malthe practice action begins to run when the plaintiff has been put on notice of an invasion of his legal rights. This occurs when the plaintiff has notice of either (1) the negligent act giving rise to the cause of action, or (2) the existence of injury which is the consequence of the negligent act, although the injury be slight and not involve all the damages later sustained. In this connection, the plaintiff is on notice as to the contents of relevant hospital and medical records which are available to or obtainable by the plaintiff pertaining to his treatment." Almengor v. Dade County, 359 So.2d 892, 894 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978). (Emphasis supplied.)

Neither conjecture, nor inference, nor supposition is necessary to establish as a matter of law that on July 9, 1973, Mr. and Mrs. Moore had actual notice of the alleged negligent act giving rise to a cause of action and actual notice of the existence of an injury to their child, even though the injury then suffered by their child might have been "slight and not involve all the damages later sustained." <u>Almengor v. Dade County</u>, supra. Notice of both factors causing the statute of limitations to commence is found in the deposition testimony of Susan and Henry Moore.

Susan Moore stated that at the time of her discharge from North Shore Hospital she felt that her obstetricians had "mismanaged" her. She thought that they had mismanaged her labor and the baby's delivery and she felt that they had done something or had not done something that was in some way improper as far as the labor and delivery period of her child. She felt that Dr. Morris had specifically "mismanaged" her in view of the complications. She knew that the unexpected caesarean section which she underwent had been performed because a problem had developed. She knew that the problems which brought her child close to death bore some relation to the caesarean section. She understood that Megan was in a condition known as "fetal distress" at the time of birth, and she understood that this condition involves a child close to dying. She was informed that her baby had fluid in her lungs which was removed on the way to the neonatal emergency care unit at Jackson Memorial Hospital by the insertion of a needle into the child's chest.

Significantly, Susan Moore stated that until she was definitely told that her child had permanent damage, she did not consider the problems arising at delivery permanent problems and had no inclination to sue for "that" problem until many months later when she was advised there was permanent injury. She felt that she had to investigate the matter when she found out that daughter had permanent damage. Prior to that time she was her inclined to investigate because apparently the problem at not delivery had not caused her any permanent damage. This is not the same as denying any knowledge that her child had suffered some injury, however slight, at birth.

Henry Moore, Megan's father, was told immediately after the baby's birth that the pediatrician didn't think the baby was going to make it. It was obvious to him that his baby was in bad shape. The pediatrician told them that the child might not live and he didn't expect her to live. She was then taken to the intensive care unit for newborn children at Jackson Memorial Hospital in an effort to remedy whatever "problem" had occurred at the time of the delivery. "Problem" is the equivalent of "damage".

The fact that <u>permanent</u> brain damage was not definitively diagnosed until July, 1976, has no bearing whatever on whether the statute of limitations began running on July 9, 1973. On that date, the undisputed statements of both Mr. and Mrs. Moore establish that they were on notice that the legal rights of themselves and their infant daughter had been invaded. Knowledge of <u>either</u> negligence or injury was sufficient to begin the statute of limitations. See, <u>Roberts v. Casey</u>, 413 So.2d 1226 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982); <u>pet. rev. den.</u>, 424 So.2d 763 (Fla. 1982).

<u>Buck v. Mouradian</u>, 100 So.2d 70 (Fla. 3d DCA 1958), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 104 So.2d 592 (Fla. 1958) was a medical malpractice action in which the defense of the statute of limitations was raised. The <u>Buck</u> case involved allegedly negligent X-ray treatments in 1951 at which time the patient experienced <u>some</u> skin burns and skin reaction. It was not until 1955 that she learned the <u>extent</u> of the injuries occasioned by the X-ray burns sustained in 1951. The trial court concluded that the statute of limitations barred recovery and entered summary final judgment on behalf of the defendants. In affirming, the appellate court determined that since the plaintiff was aware of her injury in 1951 through her own admission, the suit was barred by the statute of limitations. The statute began to run even though notice of full consequences did not materialize until later. See also, <u>Foley v. Morris</u>, 325 So.2d 37 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976); <u>rev'd. on</u> other grounds, 339 So.2d 215 (Fla. 1976).

The landmark case involving the statute of limitations in a medical malpractice case is Nardone v. Reynolds, 333 So.2d 25 Nicholas Nardone, age 13, underwent four brain (Fla. 1976). operations in January, 1965, which were performed to correct difficulties with coordination, blurred vision, and headaches. In July, 1965, Nicholas was discharged from the hospital in a comatose condition, totally blind. He had suffered irreversible The parents were apparently not informed of the brain damage. cause of their son's condition; an improper diagnostic procedure which had taken place on February 25, 1965. Complaint was filed in May, 1971. At that time, the applicable statute of limitations was four years. The parents argued that this Court should adopt the view the statute of limitations did not commence to run until they became actually aware of the negligence of the physicians and the hospital, which awareness came about within four years of the date the complaint was filed. (The same contention is made here.)

This Court acknowledges its previous decision in <u>City of</u> <u>Miami v. Brooks</u>, supra, holding the statute of limitations in a malpractice suit commences <u>either</u> when the plaintiff has notice of the negligent act giving rise to the cause of action <u>or</u> plaintiff has notice of the physical injury which is the consequence of the negligent act.

Nardone, while decided on different facts, does stand for

the proposition that one aspect of reasonable notice is knowledge that legal rights have been invaded (the negligent act), although there is no knowledge of the severity of the injuries sustained. See also, Carter v. Gross, 373 So.2d 81 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979).

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